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Ombudsman’s Determination 
Applicant Ms E  

Scheme  Allen, Allen & Ms E SSAS (SSAS) 

Respondents Member Trustees (Mr Simon Allen and Mrs Louise Allen) 

Whitehall Group (Whitehall) 

Complaint summary 
 

 

 Prior to the Oral Hearing both Counsel submitted skeleton arguments and Mr CS and 
Mr NG (Ms E’s partner, and the Executor of Mr SD’s estate) provided sworn 
statements and additional documents. The skeleton arguments and statements are 
respectively summarised in Appendices 1, 2, 3 and 4.  

 Subsequent to the Oral Hearing, Mr SD’s family adhered to my request for Mr SD’s 
medical records to be submitted to an independent medical adviser (whom I selected) 
for review. Dr Falk (Consultant Clinical Oncologist, Honorary Senior Clinical Lecturer) 
provided his report on 24 January 2022. A summary of Dr Falk’s report is provided in 
Appendix 5. 
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Summary of the Ombudsman’s decision and reasons 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Detailed Determination 
 As relevant, extracts from the SSAS’ Definitive Trust Deed and Rules dated 5 March 

2014 (the Rules), The Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme Administration) 
Regulations 1996, and The Finance Act 2004, are provided in Appendix 6. 

Material facts 

 Mr SD was employed by 1Ecommerce Ltd 9 (the Company). The Director of the 
Company is Mr Simon Allen. The SSAS was set up in 2015 by Mr Allen, Mr SD and 
Mrs Louise Allen. Mr Allen and Mr SD had known each other for some thirty years, 
they had both worked at Sellafield, shared accommodation since 1991, and later 
bought a house together (joint ownership). 

 When Mr Allen married and moved out Mr SD bought his share in the house. They 
maintained contact and Mr SD regularly visited Mr Allen’s home.  

 In 2011, Mr Allen set up the Company (building websites) and Mr SD became a part-
time employee. In late 2014, Mr Allen met with an Independent Financial Adviser (the 
IFA) to review his existing pension provision. The IFA told him about SIPP and SSAS 
arrangements and Mr Allen decided that a SSAS was a good idea. Around this time, 
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both Mr SD and Mrs Allen (Mr Allen’s wife) showed an interest in the venture, and 
both asked if they could join the SSAS and each separately met with the IFA.   

 

 

 Five pension transfers were paid into the SSAS by the three members:  

  Mrs Allen, £31,942.16; 

  Mr Allen,  £253,753 and £23,908.77; and 

  Mr SD   £156,426 and £7,609.68. 
 
  The transfers-in were allocated between the members on a percentage basis by 
  Whitehall to reflect the value of these transfers. 

 In the same year, Mrs Allen’s request to transfer-in £7,530 from her membership of 
the Tyne & Wear Pension Fund was declined by the Fund’s administering authority, 
South Tyneside Council1.  

 Mr Allen, Mrs Allen and Mr SD were all Member Trustees.  

 The professional trustee and administrator of the SSAS is Whitehall. Whitehall acts 
for about 1600 pension schemes and currently has 16 staff. Mr RM is a Director of 
Whitehall and has been a professional trustee for twenty years. 

 The Trustees managed the Trust prior to Mr SD’s death in an informal manner, with 
all communications between the Trustees handled by email or telephone. Whitehall 
did not send TPR updates to the Member Trustees but did send mailshots on various 
regulations / legislation as they arose, to keep everyone informed.  

 The SSAS holds a commercial property that was rented out to third party tenants and 
two plots of land. Whitehall maintained all the records that were available online. 
Bank statements went to the Member Trustees and Whitehall issued an annual/ 
anniversary pack to the Member Trustees. 

 
1 Mrs Allen subsequently complained to my Office (PO-14625). An Opinion was issued on 7 December 2017 
that the complaint should be upheld, and that South Tyneside Council should reconsider whether it would 
now allow the transfer. Both parties accepted the Opinion, and the complaint was closed as resolved.  
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 Regarding the land, the Member Trustees intended to gain planning permission in 
respect of each of the two plots and then sell them, retaining the proceeds of sale 
within the SSAS. The Member Trustees started this with one plot, but there was a 
clawback clause on both plots that meant they would have to pay 30% of the uplift in 
the value once new planning permission came through, so they decided to postpone 
the preparation of the planning permission application until the clawback clause 
expired. The last valuation of the business unit and the land was carried out in 20172.  

 

 

 

 
“Note: Please note that the Trustees will consider your wishes but shall not 
necessarily be bound by them. If you do not nominate beneficiaries, the 
Trustees will exercise their full discretion as to whom your benefits should be 
paid. This may include payment to your estate. We will keep this information 
confidential”. 

“Note: You can change your nomination at any time by completing a new 
Nomination of Beneficiary Form obtainable from us.” 

 

 
“Thank you for your letter dated 25th October 2017, and for the provision of 
requested information to my designated representative. 
 
This has enabled me to give the instructions I wanted for the completion of My 
Will together with the completion of a Nomination of Beneficiary Form 
(enclosed) with regards my SSAS Pension Fund. In addition, I have gathered 
further instructions to be recorded as a Letter of Wishes to give clarity and 
direction to my appointed Executor(s). 
 
For the record I should like to advise that the existence of a current 
Expression of Wishes as referred to in your recent letter that was apparently 
made on 26th February 2015 is not something I am aware of having made at 
the time the SSAS was initiated. 

 
2   The 2017 valuation of the SSAS assets was done to establish Mr SD’s share of the fund. 
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I have, however, taken this opportunity to issue a current one. Please confirm 
it’s receipt.” 

 
 

 
“3.2 I have given a current and separate instruction directly to the administrating 

trustees (Whitehall Group UK Limited) of my SSAS pension fund. This 
records my wishes with regards the intended beneficiary(ies) of that fund. 

 
3.3 I have also given further instructions that have been recorded as a Letter of 

Wishes to give clarity and direction to my Executor(s).” 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RBS Deposit Account £192,771.64 
Business Unit  £165,000.00 
Land 1   £  55,000.00 
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Land 2   £  80,000.00 
 

Total    £492,771.64 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 “The issue that has arisen following the death of [Mr SD] is a beneficiary 
matter and not a pension administration matter, and as such we are limited to 
what we can do with regard to the dispute. The scheme can’t pay for the 
funeral director’s invoice, because it’s not a scheme cost. The scheme is only 

 
3 Mr NG wrote to Whitehall to advise it that he was acting on behalf of Mr SD’s estate and to request details 
of how funds within the SSAS might be accessed. 
 
4 Mr RM confirmed to Ms E’s Counsel, at the Oral Hearing, that Mr SM had spoken with  
  him at that time.  
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able to pay death benefits to [Mr SD’s] beneficiaries, although these are now 
in question. No payments can be made until this matter has been resolved.” 
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5 Mr SD’s letter to Whitehall dated 1 November 2017. 
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“We write to you further to our email and directly in response to the suggestion that 
you made to us during our telephone conversation that our client proposes what 
settlement would be acceptable to him. 
 
Purely on a without prejudice, save as to costs, basis, our client would be willing to 
settle on the basis that out of the approximate value of £288,597.72 of [Mr SD’s] 
fund, £25,000 is paid to [Mr SD’s] estate, £165,000 is paid to [Ms E] with balance 
being paid to our client [Mr Allen]. 

 
It is important for you to note that in making this offer, our client is not in any way 
accepting the validity of the last nomination or its legal basis.” 
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 Following a complaint from the Member Trustees about the ERT Voluntary Adviser, 
the case was reallocated to an ERT Technical Specialist. The ERT Technical 
Specialist suggested that Mr Allen and Mrs Allen excuse themselves from the 
decision on the grounds of conflict of interest and for the Trustees (collectively) to 
delegate the decision to a suitably qualified independent third party, such as one of 
the trustees on TPR’s Trustee Register. Ms E and Whitehall agreed with the 
suggestion. Mr Allen and Mrs Allen asked about the possibility of negotiating a 
settlement. The ERT Technical Specialist said he could not comment, but it was open 
to the Trustees to put forward a resolution, or decide, in accordance with the SSAS 
Rules.  

 he Member Trustees reiterated the settlement offer which GJJ had 
previously relayed in August 2018. Ms E rejected the offer.  

 This remained the position until approaching the second anniversary of Mr SD’s 
death.

 

 

 

 

 The Member Trustees replied:- 
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“4. The Trustees do not currently hold sufficient liquid/cash assets to make a 
full and final settlement of the deceased member’s total entitlement but do 
hereby agree that the following are formally designated to be “Eligible 
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Recipients” in accordance with the deceased member’s “Expression of Wish” 
as notified to the Trustees in writing on 1 November 2017. 

 
(i) The Estate of the deceased member 
(ii) Ms E (sister of the deceased member) 

 
5. As it is not possible to achieve a full and final cash settlement of the 
deceased’s total death in service benefits to all Eligible Recipients prior to 23 
November 2019 the Trustees hereby confirm and agree (in order to avoid any 
potential tax charges which may arise from the later achieved settlement) the 
Beneficiaries as detailed in paragraph 4(i) and 4(ii) above are confirmed as 
designated “Eligible Recipients” under Rule 3.19.” 

 

 

 

“Thank you for returning the completed items regarding the benefits to   
be paid from the pension scheme. 

 
I am now writing to confirm that the Trustees have reached a decision to 
designate an amount of £112,599.90 to yourself.  

 
You have selected a beneficiaries’ flexi-access drawdown pension with 
an initial starting amount of nil.” 

 

21 November 2019 
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 In January 2020, Ms E chased Whitehall for its response to her 21 November 2019 
email. 

 On 24 February 2020, Whitehall notified the Senior Adjudicator: 

“The value of [Mr SD’s] share of the fund was calculated as being £298,599.90. 
[T]he amount designated to [Mr Allen] was therefore the balance of the fund after 

 
6 The Financial Conduct Authority, 
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designation of what we understood to be the agreed amounts to [Ms E] and [Mr 
SD’s] estate. This was to ensure there was no liability to tax on designation of funds 
over two years after the date of death. [Mr Allen] was a named beneficiary of [Mr 
SD] in his original expression of wishes.” 

 Subsequently all parties were notified that my Office’s investigation would continue, 
and I issued a Preliminary Decision on 3 July 2020. Having received further 
submissions from all parties I issued a second Preliminary Decision on 21 December 
2020, with my findings to date and advising that an Oral Hearing would be held to 
assist me in reaching my final conclusions. 

Summary of Ms E’s position 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7 Edge v Pensions Ombudsman [1999] 4 All ER 546. 
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 The BMA8 guidance9 is that there is a presumption of capacity and there is a heavy 
hurdle to displace that a person has a right to distribute their assets how they wish 
when they are about to die. 

 Mercer did not have any difficulty in acting on Mr SD’s Nomination on death in 
respect of a different pension arrangement, which shows how people can act if they 
are not conflicted. 

 

 

 
8 British Medical Association. 
 
9 ‘Mental Capacity Act tool kit’ of February 2016. 
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 Ms E has submitted that my directions should include the following:- 

 

 

 

 Further clarification is required on why the medical records were requested by the 
Member Trustees. There should be no implication that she caused the Trustees’ 
decision on the distribution of Mr SD’s death benefits to be delayed until the two-year 
tax deadline had passed. 

Summary of the Member Trustees’ position 

 At the Oral Hearing, in addition to his pre-hearing skeleton argument (see Appendix 
1), the Member Trustees’ Counsel made a number of submissions as set out in 
paragraphs 81 to 100 below.  

On abuse of process 

 

 
10 Bad faith summed up in Melton-Medes Ltd & another v Securities and Investments Board [1995] 3 All ER 
880 1995 authority, Mr Justice Lightman – specifically “or b) knowledge of absence of power to make a 
decision in question”. 
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 The 2017 Nomination is a legitimate and real concern. Mr SD did not mention to his 
closest friend, Mr Allen, that he had changed his nomination. It was inconsistent with 
his 2015 Nomination and was at a time when Mr SD was clearly very ill. Mr Allen, 
who visited Mr SD daily, had given evidence at the Oral Hearing on how the illness 
affected Mr SD. 

 The signing of the Will on 8 November 2017, in the presence of a doctor and nurse, is 
not on its own sufficient to determine that Mr SD had capacity, as the doctor and 
nurse were simply being asked to witness the Will, and not give an opinion on Mr 
SD’s capacity. More importantly, neither an Oncologist nor a nurse is someone who 
can give expert advice with regard to capacity. But in any event, the Will is not 
determinative because one is looking at Mr SD’s state of mind and capacity on 1 
November 2017 when he made the 2017 Nomination. While there was little time 
between the 2017 Nomination and the Will, evidence had been given that Mr SD’s 
condition might fluctuate from time to time. 

On “Some notes for [Ms E]” 

 The final paragraph can be construed to mean that Mr SD does not want to interfere 
with or change to any significant degree the original plan with Mr Allen and Mrs Allen 
regarding the SSAS fund. That could only logically relate to the 2015 Nomination. The 
paragraph is inconsistent with the 2017 Nomination and again casts doubt on Mr 
SD’s capacity at that time. 

On the non-provision of Mr SD’s medical records 

 The failure to provide Mr SD’s medical records clearly only heightened the Member 
Trustees’ concerns that there was something being hidden. The request was put 
forward on more than one occasion that the medical records would be reviewed by a 
suitable medical practitioner to consider the question of Mr SD’s capacity.  This 
fundamental issue of capacity could not be determined on an informed basis without 
the disclosure of the medical records.  
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 So, fundamental to the Member Trustees’ exercise of their discretion is the issue of 
Mr SD’s capacity and the fact that if he did not have capacity, then clearly, they could 
not follow the 2017 Nomination because that would be invalid. So, their approach to it 
then, and subsequently, was entirely reasonable and not perverse. 

On the November 2019 decision 

 At that stage, the Member Trustees were still without any evidence regarding the 
issue of Mr SD’s capacity. Moreover, the surrounding documents, which again may 
have assisted them in casting light on the position, were not disclosed to them. So, 
what they were faced with was a very pragmatic, and in that sense a reasonable, 
decision to make a distribution that essentially provided for the specific legacy to Mr 
SD’s estate (£25,000) and some apportionment between Ms E (£161,000) and Mr 
Allen (£112,599.90) (all together the November 2019 decision). This was not on a 
simple 50/50 basis as per the 2015 Nomination.  

 Ms E, and indeed the estate, did not consider that they were in a ‘take it or leave it’ 
situation as they were willing to reject the proposal offered by the Member Trustees 
and raised issues, which even included relatively minor ones.  

 The November 2019 decision was not perverse or contrary to the Rules of the 
Scheme or to the law. It was a pragmatic decision given the tax implications if there 
had not been a distribution, which could have led to Ms E being worse off. It was a 
decision that was taken after reference to Whitehall, who were clearly advising that 
such an offer should be put forward, and there was an indication from my Office of 
the desirability of this proposal. So, the Member Trustees were approaching it not 
simply with regard to their own assessment of the situation which, given in isolation, 
was correct, but they were viewing it in the context of others involved. In the 
circumstances the decision was entirely reasonable and not perverse.  

On conflict of interest 

 When questioned at the Oral Hearing Mrs Allen made it clear that she had no direct 
interest in the distribution of the death benefits and that any interest she may have 
had was only indirect. Mrs Allen confirmed that the basis for her actions in requesting 
SD’s medical records were her “gut feeling”, Whitehall’s February 2018 letter and 
GJJ’s advice to seek medical advice. 

 The position of the Member Trustees is that the issue of conflict of interest did not 
arise when the 2019 November decision was taken because, without the medical 
records and any medical evidence based upon them, the issue of whether Mr SD had 
capacity could not be considered in an informed way. So, the decision is not 
something that could be delegated, as delegating the matter would simply present the 
person to whom the decision had been delegated with the same problem.  

 The Member Trustees were entirely right at first to decline to make the decision, 
given TPOs view that an informed decision could not be made without the disclosure 
of the medical records and a report being obtained on them. Although, when the 
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decision was made, the Member Trustees did not have that evidence they did factor 
into their decision the substantive litigation risks that operated both ways. That was 
an entirely proper approach. It is not a matter the Member Trustees could have 
delegated, as that same problem would have arisen regardless, and no decision 
would have been taken. And, in those circumstances, the punitive tax charges would 
have outweighed any additional monies that might be, ultimately have been, deemed 
to be payable.  

 The Member Trustees found themselves in a position where Whitehall had failed to 
provide guidance and advice to them. On 12 February 2018, Mrs Allen appropriately 
raised a number of questions, seeking clarification from Whitehall. The response she 
received was confusing at best and just plain wrong and misleading at worst. 
Whitehall said that the issue that had arisen on the death of Mr SD was a beneficiary 
and not a pension administration matter, when in fact it is both. This put the Member 
Trustees on a single track rather than a dual track. The guidance or advice should 
have been for them to have sought legal advice in relation to the beneficiary issue 
and the pension administration issue.  

 If the conflict of interest issue, and other issues relevant to the pension administration 
had been identified, then clearly the Member Trustees would have sought wider legal 
advice. Instead, in the light of Whitehall’s response, the Member Trustees sought 
legal advice on a narrow context relating to the issue of the capacity of Mr SD and, 
potentially, the setting aside of the 2017 Nomination. 

 If there was a conflict of interest, it was upon a limited culpability basis so far as the 
Member Trustees are concerned. Why as lay trustees would they raise issues that a 
professional trustee had told them did not exist? They had done the right thing, in the 
initial circumstances, by seeking advice and guidance from the professional trustee. 
They had tried to manage any conflict of interest to the best of their abilities, including 
by allowing Mrs Allen to be more involved while Mr Allen took a step back from the 
matter. 

 When Mr SD made the 2015 Nomination, he was aware that there would be a conflict 
of interest between Mr Allen and himself, being both a trustee and a beneficiary, and 
potentially that Mrs Allen would also have an indirect conflict. Notwithstanding that, he 
clearly had sufficient trust in them that he felt that was something they could deal with 
and would not let their judgment be clouded by any conflict of interest. On that basis, 
the fact that Mrs Allen might benefit indirectly from the 2015 Nomination did not mean 
necessarily that she would abrogate or breach her duties simply because of some 
ulterior motive. It has emerged from her evidence that Mrs Allen clearly considered 
her duties to be very important and wished to discharge them in a proper manner.  

 So, with regard to the conflict of interest: first, it does not arise; and second, if there 
were a duty, the Member Trustees had taken such steps to try and minimise or 
negate it. If they failed to do so, the culpability for that failure would rest with 
Whitehall. 
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 The principal source of distress and anxiety was the failure of the Trustees to make a 
decision. This is clearly not the complaint before the Ombudsman. In terms of 
causation of distress and anxiety, it was not the actual decision itself that was the 
primary cause of that; it was, instead, the failure to take the decision and that failure 
was what led to the referral of the matter to The Pensions Ombudsman. In any event, 
in terms of evaluating culpability, the culpability is not equal. The real villains of this 
piece are Whitehall, who did not discharge any of their responsibilities that they were 
paid to do. Worse still they created problems when on the solitary occasion they did 
provide advice and guidance.  
 

 

On the SSAS’ status 
 

 

Quantum 
 

 

Summary of Whitehall’s position 

 Whitehall considers that it has been caught in the middle of a dispute between Ms E 
and the Member Trustees over the distribution of Mr SD’s share of the fund and that 
there has clearly been considerable activity and behaviour of which it was unaware. 

 It has tried to remain impartial throughout the process but was not provided with 
sufficient information to reach a decision unaided on how Mr SD’s share of fund 
should be distributed. The ultimate decision on the designation of funds lies with the 
Member Trustees. It therefore had to accept their instruction on this matter.  

 Since it could not make a decision or take any action without this instruction, it does 
not consider that it should be penalised in this matter. 

 Mr Allen was a named beneficiary of Mr SD’s 2015 Nomination. The amount 
subsequently designated to Mr Allen was the balance of Mr SD’s share of fund after 
the designation of what it understood to be the agreed amounts to Ms E and to Mr 
SD’s estate. This was to ensure there was no liability to tax on the designation of the 
funds beyond two years after Mr SD’s death. 

 It did all it could to bring the matter to a satisfactory conclusion and no tax charges 
were incurred on Mr SD’s fund. It has tried to remain professional throughout this 
process and has not therefore mentioned this before but both parties made verbal 
threats of legal action against it if it did not take their side in this dispute. 
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Current administration of the SSAS 

 Whitehall has recently provided me with an update concerning the SSAS’s 
administration and the activities that are currently in progress in order to generate 
liquid funds within the SSAS, which it has asked me to consider when making my 
directions: 

 

 

 Whitehall has made various suggestions in respect of how I might direct a suitable 
remedy for Ms E. I have taken those into consideration in making my directions. 

 In response to Ms E’s suggestion that Whitehall makes full payment of the balance of 
Mr SD’s fund due from its corporate resources if the payment from the SSAS has 
failed to occur 90 days after the date of the Determination, Whitehall has said that it is 
not prepared to subsidise the SSAS from corporate funds pending the sale of the 
property. 

 It is clear from the history of this case that the withholding of medical records was 
pivotal to the time that it has taken to resolve this matter. Therefore, it would not be 
appropriate to make an award for “additional financial loss”. 

TPO’s procedure in handling this case 

 Whitehall considers that insufficient weight has been given to the email sent to it by 
my Office, referred to in paragraph 59.5 above. Whitehall had understood the 
statement that Ms E had accepted the Member Trustees offer to pay her £161,000 
from the SSAS bank account to avoid a tax charge as meaning that the matter had 
been settled and agreed. Whitehall considers that it should be acknowledged that this 
was a significant cause of confusion as it led to the November 2019 decision. 

The SSAS’ status as an occupational pension scheme 

 It is unclear why the Member Trustees do not consider the SSAS to be an 
occupational pension scheme. The principal employer, 1-Ecommerce Ltd, is still 
active. 
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Conclusions 

Status of the Scheme 

 

 Section 1(1) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (PSA 1993), defines the term 
“occupational pension scheme” as: 

“a pension scheme – 

(a) that — 

(i) for the purpose of providing benefits to, or in respect of, people with service 
in employments of a description, or 

(ii) for that purpose and also for the purpose of providing benefits to, or in 
respect of, other people, 

is established by, or by persons who include, a person to whom subsection (2) 
applies when the scheme is established or (as the case may be) to whom that 
subsection would have applied when the scheme was established had that 
subsection then been in force.” 

 Section 1(2) of the PSA 1993 applies as follows: 
 

“This subsection applies— 

(a)  where people in employments of the description concerned are employed 
by someone, to a person who employs such people, 

(b) to a person in an employment of that description, and 

(c) to a person representing interests of a description framed so as to 
include— 

(i) interests of persons who employ people in employments of the description 
mentioned in paragraph (a), or 

(ii) interests of people in employments of that description.” 

 Section 181(1) of the PSA 1993, defines “employment” as follows: 

““employment” includes any trade, business, profession, office or vocation and 
“employed” shall be construed accordingly except in the expression “employed 
earner””. 

https://perspective.info/documents/act-psa1993/#act-psa1993-txt-1.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-psa1993/#act-psa1993-txt-181.1
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 Following the judgment in the case of Pi Consulting v The Pensions Regulator11 (Pi 
Consulting), the following two main questions need to be answered affirmatively in 
order to conclude that the SSAS is an occupational pension scheme12: 

(i) is the scheme in question 'for the purpose of providing benefits to, or in respect of, 
people with service in employments of a description or for that purpose and also for 
the purpose of providing benefits to, or in respect of, other people'? (the Purpose 
Issue); and 

(ii) is the scheme in question established by, or by persons who include, a person to 
whom section 1(2) of PSA 1993 applied when the scheme was established? (the 
Founder Issue).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
11 [2013] 100 PBLR (024) - [2013] EWHC 3181 (Ch). 
 
12 Paragraph 22 of Pi Consulting. 

https://perspective.info/documents/lr-p13pi/
https://perspective.info/documents/lr-p13pi/
https://perspective.info/documents/lr-p13pi/#lr-p13pi-jm-1.22


PO-22369 

28 
 

 The information provided to both Whitehall and the Member Trustees, prior to the 
November 2019 decision to designate funds, was clear and at no stage did my Office 
advise the Trustees that the complaint had been discontinued. The timeline of events, 
set out above in paragraph 59, shows that Ms E was granted an extension of time 
within which to respond to the first stage Discontinuance Notice and it is apparent that 
Ms E had not accepted the Member Trustees’ proposal in full to settle this matter 
prior to the Trustees’ agreeing to the designation of the death benefits to Mr Allen. I 
do not accept that the Member Trustees reasonably believed that a final decision had 
been made that the complaint would not proceed or, therefore, that their position has 
been compromised by any actions they may have taken or not taken based on any 
such mistaken belief.         
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13 TPR’s ‘Code of practice 13: Governance and administration of occupational trust-based schemes 
providing money purchase benefits’ – code in force 26 July 2016. 

14 TPR’s guidance on ‘Conflicts of interest’ – Oct 2008  
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-management-detailed-
guidance/governing-body-detailed-guidance/conflicts-of-interest. 
15 Speight v Gaunt [1883] EWCA Civ 1. 
 
16 Bartlett v Barclays Bank Trust Co. Ltd [1980] Ch. 515 at 531. 
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17 Para 10 and Principle 3.3 of the Pensions Regulator’s Conflict of Interest Guidance – October 2008 
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-management-detailed-
guidance/governing-body-detailed-guidance/conflicts-of-interest. 

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-management-detailed-guidance/governing-body-detailed-guidance/conflicts-of-interest
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-management-detailed-guidance/governing-body-detailed-guidance/conflicts-of-interest
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 In exercising a discretionary power, such as that under Rule 8, trustees are required 
to apply the following principles as set out in the case of Edge. Trustees must:  
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18 Armitage v Nurse [1998] Ch 241, page 253. 
 
19 [2015] EWHC 448 (Ch). 
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 This matter has caused Ms E severe and unnecessary distress and inconvenience 
and I make a direction in recognition of that fact. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
20 This indemnity is subject to section 256 of the Pensions Act 2004 and does not apply to the extent that the 
Trustee recovers under any insurance. 
21 This indemnity does not apply to the extent that the Professional Trustee recovers under any insurance 
claim. 
 
22 Sub-para 59.13 - Whitehall’s letter to Mr SA dated 20 November 2019. 
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 In any event, the scope of the exoneration under Clause 23.1 is limited by the case of 
Armitage (see paragraph 152 above), which established that “The duty of the trustees 
to perform the trusts honestly and in good faith for the benefit of the beneficiaries, is 
the minimum necessary to give substance to the trusts” (para 29 of Armitage). A 
trustee’s duty to act honestly and in good faith are part of the “irreducible core of 
obligations owed by the trustees to the beneficiaries and enforceable by them which 
is fundamental to the concept of a trust”.  

 In Armitage, Millet LJ accepted, at paragraph 18, that dishonesty: 

“connotes at the minimum an intention on the part of the trustee to pursue a 
particular course of action, either knowing that it is contrary to the interests of the 
beneficiaries or being recklessly indifferent whether it is contrary to their interests or 
not.” 

 Millet LJ explained (at paragraph 19) that:  

“It is the duty of a trustee to manage the trust property and deal with it in the 
interests of the beneficiaries. If he acts in a way which he does not honestly believe 
is in their interests then he is acting dishonestly.”. 

 However, in considering the test of honesty in Armitage, which appears to be 
subjective, Millet LJ did not consider the House of Lords decision in Royal Brunei 
Airlines v Tan [1995] 2 AC 378. Lord Nicholls said (in the context of knowing 
assistance and constructive trusts) in Royal Brunei Airlines that an objective test of 
[dis]honesty is to be applied: 

“… in the context of the accessory liability principle acting dishonestly, or with a lack 
of probity, which is synonymous, means simply not acting as an honest person 
would in the circumstances. This is an objective standard. At first sights this may 
seem surprising. Honesty has a connotation of subjectivity as distinct from 
objectivity of negligence. Honesty, indeed does have a strong subjective element in 
that it is a description of a type of conduct assessed in the light of what a person 
actually knew at the time, as distinct from what a reasonable person would have 
known or appreciated…However, these subjective characteristics of honesty do not 
mean that individuals are free to set their own standards of honesty in particular 
circumstances. The standard of what constitutes honest conduct is not subjective. 
Honesty is not an optional scale with higher or lower values according to the moral 
standards of each individual. If a person knowingly appropriates another’s property, 
he will not escape a finding of dishonesty simply because he sees nothing wrong in 
such behaviour.” 
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 Under the heading “Taking Risks” Lord Nicholls said: 

“All investment involves risk. Imprudence is not dishonesty, although imprudence 
may be carried recklessly to lengths which call into question the honesty of the 
person making the decision. This is especially so where the transaction services 
another purpose in which that person has an interest of his own. This type of risk is 
to be sharply distinguished from the case where a trustee, with or without the 
benefit of advice, is aware that a particular investment or application of trust 
property is outside his powers, but nevertheless he decides to proceed in the belief 
or hope that this will be beneficial to beneficiaries or, at least, not prejudicial to 
them. He takes a risk that a clearly unauthorised transaction will not cause loss. A 
risk of this nature is for the account of those who take it. If the risk materialises and 
causes loss, those who knowingly took the risk will be accountable accordingly.” 

 In Walker v Stones [2001] 2 WLR 623, Sir Christopher Slade, giving the only full 
judgment, said that, while there is a difference of emphasis between the judgments in 
Royal Brunei Airlines and Armitage, as far as they relate to the concept of dishonesty 
they were not irreconcilable and that he could see no grounds for applying a different 
test of honesty in the context of a trustee exemption clause from that applicable to the 
liability of an accessory in breach of trust. With regard to Millett LJ’s dictum on a 
trustee’s honest belief he said: 

“I think it most unlikely that he would have intended this dictum to apply in a case 
where a solicitor-trustee’s perception of the interests of the beneficiaries was so 
unreasonable that no reasonable solicitor-trustee could have held such a belief”. 

 Sir Christopher Slade restated the proposition - “at least in the case of a solicitor-
trustee” - that honest belief would not be found where a trustee’s perception of the 
interest of the beneficiaries was so unreasonable that, by an objective standard, no 
reasonable trustee-solicitor could have thought that what he did or agreed to do was 
for the benefit of the beneficiaries. He explained that he limited the proposition to 
trustee-solicitors because on the facts he was only concerned with a trustee-solicitor 
and because he accepted that the test for honesty may vary from case to case 
depending on the role and calling of the trustee. Lord Justice Nourse and Lord 
Justice Mantell agreed with his judgment without adding anything of their own. 

 In Mortgage Express Limited v S Newman & Co (a firm) (The Solicitors Indemnity 
Fund limited, Pt 20 defendant) [2001] All ER (D) 08 (Mar), Etherton J said: 

“It is now well established that dishonesty, in the context of civil liability, embraces 
both a subjective and an objective element. The well-known statement on this issue 
is that of Lord Nicholls in Royal Brunei Airlines v Tan … The inter-relationship 
between the objective and subjective standards can produce both conceptual and 
practical difficulties. I was referred, for example, to … Walker v Stones…”. 

 Etherton J considered Sir Christopher Slade’s dictum, and said that he did not 
consider that Sir Christopher Slade could have been intending to abolish the critical 
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distinction between incompetence and dishonesty, that incompetence, even if gross, 
does not amount to dishonesty without more. 

 In the later case of Fattal v Walbrook Trustees (Jersey) Limited [2010] EWHC 2767 
(Ch)23, it was accepted, at para 81, that the law concerning the interpretation of 
exoneration clauses, as set out in Walker v Stones, was not confined to applying to 
solicitor-trustees. In Fattal v Walbrook24 the test for dishonesty, at least in the case of 
a professional trustee, seems to be that the trustee has committed a deliberate 
breach of trust and either: (a) knew, or was recklessly indifferent as to whether, it was 
contrary to the interests of the beneficiaries; or (b) believed it to be in the interests of 
the beneficiaries, but so unreasonably that no reasonable professional trustee could 
have thought that what he did was for the benefit of the beneficiaries. 

 In the case of Ivey v Genting Casinos Ltd t/a Crockfords [2017] UKSC 67, it was 
confirmed that there should be a common standard of dishonesty in both civil and 
criminal cases and that the civil standard, as considered in the cases of Royal Brunei 
and Twinsectra should be applied in the criminal, as well as in the civil, context 
(paragraph 62 of Ivey v Genting). Ivey v Genting emphasised, in line with Twinsectra, 
that, in considering whether an individual had acted dishonestly, it was necessary to 
make that judgment on the basis of the standards of ordinary common people, not of 
those of that individual. 

 Having found that Whitehall has breached its core duty of care and its duty to act in 
the beneficiaries’ best financial interests, I consider that the circumstances call into 
question the honesty and basis on which Whitehall made its decisions. It has been 
explained to me that Whitehall made a deliberate decision to remain impartial 
throughout the process of deciding how to distribute Mr SD’s death benefits and that 
it tried to resolve the situation to the best of its ability. 

 As I have indicated at paragraphs 130 and 131 above, Whitehall did not handle the 
issue of the conflict of interest in a professional manner and did not seek legal advice 
on this, or in relation to any other issue that may have assisted it and/or the Member 
Trustees in resolving this matter. In particular, Whitehall did not seek any legal advice 
in respect of the proposed resolution in November 2019 and how this could be 
applied in accordance with the Rules, simply flagging to the Member Trustees that 
they should consider whether or not they needed to take independent legal advice. 
Whitehall did not refer itself and/or the Member Trustees to TPR’s guidance that was 
freely available on managing conflicts. By not applying itself fully by failing to seek 
additional advice, I consider that, as a professional trustee, Whitehall was recklessly 
indifferent to Ms E’s interests as a beneficiary, and that it acted to protect its own 
interests by remaining impartial. For these reasons, I consider that Whitehall’s actions 

 
23 which acknowledged, at para 81, that there had been “twists and turns in the legal definition of 
dishonesty”, referring to the cases of Twinsectra Ltd v Yardley [2002] AC 164 (Twinsectra), Barlow Clowes v 
Eurotrust International Ltd [2006] 1 WLR 1476 and Abou-Rahmah v Abacha [2006] EWCA Civ 1492. 
 
24 and confirmed in the case of Sofer v Swiss Independent Trustees SA [2019] 2071 (Ch) and subsequently 
in Robert Sofer v Swiss Independent Trustees SA [2020] EWCA Civ 699. 
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fall within the legal definition of dishonesty that is relevant to this case, as set out in 
paragraph 171 above. 
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25 Bristol and West Building Society v Mothew [1998] Ch 1 at 16-22. 
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Directions 

 

 

 

 

 
26 The Pension Ombudsman’s power to award interest at a rate of 8% falls under S151(2) of the Pension 
Schemes Act 1993. 
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 As soon as it is practically possible to do so, the Trustees shall pay to Ms E the 
greater of: 

 

 

 In the event that Ms E incurs any income tax charge in connection with the 
distribution of Mr SD’s death benefits, she will inform the Trustees, and provide them 
with appropriate evidence, of the charge and the Trustees shall reimburse Ms E in full 
within 28 days of having been notified of the charge by Ms E. 

Within 28 days of the date of this Determination, Whitehall shall pay £2,000 and the 
Member Trustees £1,000 to Ms E in respect of the severe and serious distress and 
inconvenience caused. 

 

Anthony Arter 

Pensions Ombudsman 

6 December 2022 
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Appendix 1 

Skeleton argument submitted by Ms E’s Counsel prior to the Oral Hearing 
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27 For similar reasons, nor should I, as opposed to instructing expert evidence on the question of capacity 
from an appropriate medical expert, should I deem such a step appropriate. 
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Appendix 2 - Skeleton argument submitted by the Member Trustees’ Counsel prior 
to the Oral Hearing 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
28 The November 2019 decision. 
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Appendix 3 

Summary of Mr CS’s sworn statement 
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Appendix 4 

Summary of Mr NG’s sworn statement 
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Dr Falk’s Report of 24 January 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

“The tongue cancer by itself and its documented spread and treatment would 
not cause an impairment of, or disturbance in the functioning of his brain.  

The medications administered for pain relief namely opiates and gabapentin 
can cause an impairment of, or disturbance in the functioning of his brain. 

The elevated calcium in the blood which is related to an aggressive cancer 
can cause an impairment of, or disturbance in the functioning of his brain. 

I have been through the case notes summarized above and can find no 
evidence of an impairment of, or disturbance in the functioning of [Mr SD’s] 
brain until 17 November 2017 at which stage he was deemed to be speaking 
incoherently. There are no further relevant annotations.” 

 

“In my opinion no. [Mr SD] was deemed well enough to receive anti-cancer 
therapy on 01 November 2017. If he was not competent at that time on 
balance treatment would not have been administered. There is no evidence in 
the contemporaneous medical records that [Mr SD] had an impairment or 
disturbance in the functioning of his brain due to his illness or his treatment 
that would have prevented him from making a decision for himself to alter his 
Nomination of Beneficiary Form on 01 November 2017.” 
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Appendix 6 

The SSAS Trust Deed and Rules 

 

“2.4 The Trustees accept appointment as Trustees and Scheme Administrator.”  

 

“3.15 “Dependant” has the same meaning as in paragraph 15 of Schedule 28 to the 
Finance Act.” 

“3.25 “Finance Act” means the Finance Act 2004 as amended from time to time.” 

“3.74 “Trustees” means initially those named above and thereafter the Trustees for 
the time being of the Scheme”. 

 

“8.1 On the death of a Member a lump sum death benefit may be paid, equal 
to the Member’s Fund or such lesser amount as the Trustees may determine 
which is either permitted by the Lump Sum Death Benefit Rules or by 
regulations made under section 164 of the Finance Act or otherwise permitted 
by HMRC… 

8.2 The Trustees may pay or apply such lump sum (and any payments of the 
Member’s pension payable after his death under a guarantee) to or for the 
benefit of one or more Eligible Recipients in such proportions as they think fit. 
The Trustees may pay all or any of the lump sum to trustees of another trust to 
benefit one or more Eligible Recipients or may direct all or any of the lump 
sum to be held by themselves or other trustees on such trusts including 
discretionary trusts and with such powers and provisions including 
maintenance, advancement, accumulation, selection and variation for the 
benefit of one or more Eligible Recipients as the Trustees think fit. If and to the 
extent that (in the case of any Member) the lump sum is not so paid or applied 
the lump sum will be paid to his personal representatives (unless the 
deceased’s estate passes bona vacantia in which case no lump sum in excess 
of any already committed will be payable).” 
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22.4 …a minimum of two Trustees is required. 
… 
22.7 The Scheme shall comply with the requirement of Regulation 3(1)(h) of 
the Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme Administration) Regulation 
1996…and of any other regulations so requiring for all decisions which fall to 
be made by the Trustees to be made by the Trustees who are Members by 
unanimous agreement…disregarding in each case the participation of a 
Professional Trustee in the making of a decision provided that the prior 
agreement in writing of the Professional Trustee (if and for so long as there is 
a Professional Trustee which is a Trustee of the Scheme) and of the Scheme 
Administrator shall be required for any decision of the Trustees to invest or 
disinvest under Rule 19.1 or Rule 19.2 save for any investment or 
disinvestment decisions to which Rule 19.4 or 20 applies. The Scheme shall 
comply with this requirement in order to obtain exemption from the 
requirements of the 1995 Act or of the Pensions Act 2004 which from time to 
time are expressed not to apply if this requirement is satisfied.” 

22.8 …The Trustees may delegate powers, duties or discretions…within their 
number or to third parties and on any terms.” 

 

23.2 Without prejudice to the generality of Rule 23.1 above, each Professional 
Trustee…shall (except to the extent that he recovers under any insurance claim) be 
indemnified from the assets of the Scheme and from the assets of each relevant 
Member’s Fund and be each relevant Member and Beneficiary personally and by 
each of the Employers from all and any liabilities, costs, claims, expenses, 
obligations, demands and proceedings whatsoever to or in respect of or arising out 
of or in connection with a Scheme Sanction Charge or a De-registration Charge or 
any other Tax, including any other Tax under the Finance Act except to the extent 
attributable to that Professional Trustee’s…own act or omission knowingly and 
deliberately committed in bad faith. The Trustees may at the expense of the 



PO-22369 

55 
 

Scheme insure the Scheme and themselves including the Professional Trustee and 
the Scheme Administrator and such officers, representatives, delegates and 
nominees against any such Tax liability. 

23.3 Neither the Professional Trustee (if any) nor the Scheme Administrators nor 
any officer or representative of a Professional Trustee or of a Scheme Administrator 
nor any delegate or nominee of the Trustees or of the Scheme Administrator shall 
be under any liability to any member or beneficiary in respect of any Scheme 
Chargeable Payment including in relation to any Scheme Sanction Charge or a De-
registration Charge except to the extent attributable to that Professional 
Trustee’s…own act or omission knowingly and deliberately committed in bad faith. 

… 

23.5 All and any Tax payable arising out of or in connection with the Scheme shall 
be met from the assets of the Scheme and from Member’s Funds as determined by 
the Professional Trustee or the Scheme Administrator from time to time.” 

The Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme Administration) Regulations 1996 

 

“Exemptions from the professional advisers’ requirements 

3.—(1) Section 47(1)(a) of the 1995 Act (for every occupational pension 
scheme there shall be an individual, or a firm, appointed by the trustees or 
managers as auditor) does not apply to—  

… 

1 (h) a scheme– (i) with fewer than 12 members where all the members are 
trustees of the scheme and either– (aa) the provisions of the scheme provide 
that all decisions which fall to be made by the trustees are made by 
unanimous agreement by the trustees who are members of the scheme; or 
(bb) the scheme has a trustee who is independent in relation to the scheme 
for the purposes of section 23 of the 1995 Act(a) (power to appoint 
independent trustees and is registered in the register maintained by the 
authority in accordance with regulations made under subsection (4) of that 
section; or (ii) with fewer than 12 members where all the members are 
directors of a company which is the sole trustee of the scheme, and either– 
(aa) the provisions of the scheme provide that any decisions made by the 
company in its capacity as trustee are made by the unanimous agreement of 
all the directors who are members of the scheme; or (bb) one of the directors 
of the company is independent in relation to the scheme for the purposes of 
section 23 of the 1995 Act, and is registered in the register maintained by the 
Authority in accordance with regulations made under subsection (4) of that 
section;”. 
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“(1) A person who was married to, or a civil partner of, the member at the date 
of the member's death is a dependant of the member. 

(1A) If the rules of the pension scheme so provide, a person who was married 
to , or a civil partner of, the member when the member first became entitled to 
a pension under the pension scheme is a dependant of the member. 

(2) A child of the member is a dependant of the member if the child— 

(a) has not reached the age of 23, or 

(b) has reached that age and, in the opinion of the scheme administrator, was 
at the date of the member's death dependant on the member because of 
physical or mental impairment. 

(2A) A child of the member is a dependant of the member if the child— 

(a) has reached the age of 23, and 

(b) is not within sub-paragraph (2)(b). 

(2B) But this paragraph, so far as it has effect for the purpose of determining 
the meaning of “dependant” — 

(a) in paragraphs 16 to 17 and 27A, and 

(b) in paragraph 18 of Schedule 29, 

has effect with the omission of sub-paragraph (2A). 

(3) A person who was not married to , or a civil partner of, the member at the 
date of the member's death and is not a child of the member is a dependant of 
the member if, in the opinion of the scheme administrator, at the date of 
the member's death— 

(a) the person was financially dependent on the member, 

(b) the person's financial relationship with the member was one of mutual 
dependence, or 

(c) the person was dependant on the member because of physical or mental 
impairment.” 

https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-150.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-165.3
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-165.2
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-150.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-cellid-280.2.12
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#actsch-fa2004-txt-29.2.18
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-cellid-280.2.12
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1
https://perspective.info/documents/act-fa2004/#act-fa2004-txt-151.1


 

 
 

 
 

CORRECTION TO THE DETERMINATION PO-22369 

Minor mistakes in a Determination (including any directions) by the Ombudsman, such as 
accidental slips or omissions, can be corrected1. This certificate sets out corrections to the 
Determination and must be kept with it. 

 

Determination reference: PO-22369 

Dated: 6 December 2022 

Between Ms E and the Member Trustees (Mr Simon Allen and Mrs Louise Allen) and 
Whitehall Group (Whitehall). 

I certify the following corrections: 

• Paragraph 14 – the transfers-in respectively paid by Mr Allen and Mr SD are 
corrected to: 

“Mr Allen  £156,426 and £7,609.68 

Mr SD  £253,753 and £23,908.77”   

• Paragraph 200 – “the greater of” is deleted from the first sentence. 

• Sub-paragraph 200.2 – Second sentence added: “The proportion of simple interest 
to be paid shall be shared by the Trustees:  2/3 Whitehall and 1/3 Mr and Mrs 
Allen.” 

 

 

Anthony Arter 

Pensions Ombudsman 

8 December 2022 

 

 
1 Rule 17(2), The Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) (Procedure) Rules 
1995. 
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